STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
MAR 03 2015
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENNIS M. PENNY, II,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001554

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State failed to present any evidence that Appellant did not have consent or permission from the homeowner to enter the dwelling.
- II. Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not present any evidence that Appellant had any intent to commit a crime within the dwelling when he entered the dwelling and where the mere kicking in of a door, without more, is not sufficient to support an inference that Appellant intended to commit a crime within the dwelling.
- III. Appellant is entitled to a new trial where the Trial Court erred in refusing to suppress evidence of Appellant's flight after an Amber Alert was issued where there was no nexus between the flight and the charged offense of second degree burglary and where the admission of the Amber Alert was highly prejudicial as it suggested to the jury that Appellant abducted his children even though the State later determined that kidnapping charges were inappropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 2013, Appellant Dennis M. Penny, II was indicted by the Chesterfield County Grand Jury for one count of second degree burglary in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-312(A) for entering the dwelling of Joey Oliver on January 14, 2013 without consent and with the intent to commit a crime therein. R.124.

On June 3-4, 2013, Appellant was tried before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. R.1; R. 14. Appellant was represented by Bryan C. Letteer, and the State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Kernard E. Redmond and Assistant Solicitor Adam M. Foard. R.1; R. 14.

On June 4, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 94, ll. 1-5. Sentencing of Appellant was held on July 9, 2013. Judge Burch initially sentenced Appellant to five years suspended upon the service of four years with two years probation. R. 108, ll. 16-19. On July 10, 2013, after Appellant indicated that he did not want any probation, Judge Burch sentenced Appellant to a straight five year sentence with no suspended sentence and no probation with time served credit of 206 days. R. 122, ll. 9-11; R.126 (Sentencing sheet).

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Joey Oliver testified that on December 20, 2012, he was living with his wife, his children, including Chasity Penny, and Chasity's four children. R. 26, l. 25 – 27, l. 7. Chasity had her own residence, but had spent the night with her children at Mr. Oliver's home. *Id.* at 27, ll. 13-22. He testified that Appellant was not a resident of his home. R. 27, ll. 8-12.

Mr. Oliver explained that Chasity had moved back to South Carolina about three to four weeks prior to December 20, 2012. She had been living in Pennsylvania where Appellant, her husband, had taken a job. Chasity indicated to her father that she and Appellant had been having some issues, and she called her parents wanting to come back home. So her parents arranged transportation for her to move back to South Carolina. R. 27, l. 23 – 28, l. 10.

Mr. Oliver said the last time he remembered Appellant visiting his home was Father's Day 2012. R. 28, ll. 23-25. Mr. Oliver recalled that the relationship between Chasity and Appellant was not strained at Father's Day but had become strained by December 20, 2012. R. 29, ll. 1 – 10.

On December 20, 2012, Appellant came to Mr. Oliver's house. Mr. Oliver had not called Appellant, had not invited him over that day, and did not know that Appellant was planning to come to his house that day. R. 29, ll. 18-25; 30, ll. 1-2.

Mr. Oliver testified that when Appellant arrived at his house, Appellant "snatched the storm door open and kicked the metal door in." R. 30, l. 25 – 31, l. 3. After Appellant kicked the door, Appellant went inside and Mr. Oliver asked him what he was

doing. Appellant picked up his two oldest children, turned, and went back out the door. R. 31, ll. 9-13.

Mr. Oliver testified that as a result of Appellant kicking the metal door, the two doors had to be replaced and were replaced that day. R. 31, ll. 18-22. The latch on the storm door had been broken and the storm door had been “whooped up.” The door jamb had been ripped out and the door was bent in. R. 37, ll. 10-15.

Mr. Oliver further testified that while Appellant did not have permission to kick in his door, if Appellant had knocked, Mr. Oliver would have opened the door for Appellant. Mr. Oliver asserted that Appellant just did not have permission to enter the way he did – by kicking the door. R. 32, ll. 3-11.

Mr. Oliver also affirmed on direct examination that he still loved Appellant as a son and had no hard feelings against him. R. 30, ll. 16-21.

On cross-examination, Mr. Oliver admitted that if the State had not subpoenaed him for trial, he probably would not have even appeared for trial. R. 33, ll. 1-9. Mr. Oliver also stated that Chasity and Appellant used to live behind his residence in a box trailer. Chasity would stay there while Appellant was overseas, and Appellant would stay there when he was home. R. 33, ll. 10-16.

Mr. Oliver acknowledged that Chasity and Appellant could have stayed in Mr. Oliver’s house but that they chose to live in the camper. Both Chasity and Appellant received mail at Mr. Oliver’s house and in fact, as of the date of trial, Appellant was still receiving mail at Mr. Oliver’s house. R. 33, l. 17 – 34, l. 1.

Mr. Oliver reiterated that had Appellant knocked on the door, Mr. Oliver would have opened it for Appellant. R. 34, ll. 6-9. Mr. Oliver also stated that even though

Appellant had not been at his house in a while, it was not because Appellant was not welcomed at Mr. Oliver's house. It was just Appellant's decision not to visit. R. 34, ll. 2-5.

Mr. Oliver was emphatic that he never told Appellant that he was not welcomed at his house. R.36, ll. 1-4. He testified that while everything happened so quick on December 20, 2012, Mr. Oliver did not deny Appellant permission. R.36, ll. 5-10. He again stated that while Appellant was not welcomed to kick in his door, if Appellant had knocked on the door, Mr. Oliver would have let him inside. R.36, ll. 11-15.

Mr. Oliver also testified that he gave a statement to law enforcement on the day of the incident but could not remember if his statement was written down. R. 35, ll. 5-23.

Deputy Randall Carnes of the Chesterfield County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to Mr. Oliver's home for a burglary and possible kidnapping. R. 38, ll. 2-25. When he arrived at the scene, Mr. Oliver, his wife, his two daughters, one of whom was Appellant's wife, and two small children belonging to Appellant and Appellant's wife, were at the home. R. 39, ll. 2-8.

As a part of his investigation, Deputy Carnes determined that the door was forcefully kicked in by Appellant. R. 39, ll. 17 – 23. Deputy Carnes observed that the screen door was damaged and that the front door was kicked in where the deadbolt and the actual handle lock. R. 40, ll. 1-3. The door jamb had been damaged and pieces of the door jamb were lying on the living room floor. R. 40, ll. 11-15.

Appellant's counsel asked Deputy Carnes on cross-examination whether it was true that none of the interviews of witnesses were written down. Deputy Carnes disagreed and said he issued a voluntary statement form to Appellant's mother-in-law and

his wife. Deputy Carnes testified he turned those statements over to an investigator, but did not know if the investigator turned the statements over to the State. R. 41, ll. 6-18. It turned out that these statements were never turned over to the defense during discovery. R. 42, l. 13 – 44, l. 15.

Major Matt Shaw of the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office testified that on December 20, 2012, he received notification of an Amber Alert from Chesterfield County. Within minutes of receiving the alert, the Lancaster City Police Department advised that they had located the vehicle somewhere near Main Street. Major Shaw ultimately assisted in the chase of the vehicle. R. 49, l. 11 – 50, l. 4.

Several miles outside of the City of Lancaster, the suspect vehicle had pulled over on the side of Route 521. When Major Shaw arrived on the scene, there were approximately ten other police units there mostly from the City of Lancaster. Several investigators from the City Police Department were talking to Appellant trying to get him to come out of the vehicle. Appellant stayed in the vehicle. R. 50, ll. 8-22.

Less than five minutes after Major Shaw arrived, one of the investigators from the City Police Department got close to the vehicle and tried to grab Appellant and pull him from the vehicle. Appellant drove off on Northbound 521. R. 50, l. 25 – 51, l. 5. Appellant continued north on 521. R. 51, ll. 17-18. The pursuit continued into North Carolina. R. 52, l. 11. Appellant was eventually forced off the side of the road in North Carolina. R. 53, ll. 8-12. Appellant was then apprehended. The children were removed from the vehicle and determined to be fine. R. 54, l. 8 – 55, l. 13.

Major Shaw testified that the chase of Appellant was based off of the Amber Alert and he claimed that included in the Amber Alert was the fact that Appellant was wanted

for burglary even though Amber Alerts were not typically issued for burglaries but issued solely for child abductions. R. 56, ll. 2-11. Major Shaw also testified that Amber Alerts could not be issued for just strictly custody matters. R. 56, ll. 13-18.

Investigator Ryan MacLamore, employed by the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office, testified he was the lead pursuit officer of Appellant as the officers were pursuing Appellant up 521 North after Appellant drove off when officers attempted to pull him out of the car when he first pulled off on the side of 521. R. 57, l. 17 – 59, l. 16. Investigator MacLamore was involved in apprehending Appellant and placing him in handcuffs. R. 61, ll. 5 – 22. On cross-examination, Investigator MacLamore admitted that he had no idea if the Amber Alert was validly issued. R. 62, ll. 1-13.

Investigator Eric Jaillette of the Lancaster County Sheriff's Office also assisted in the apprehension of Appellant. R. 63, l. 3 – 65, l. 21. He also admitted that he had no idea if the Amber Alert was validly issued. R. 65, l. 25 – 66, l. 2.

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State failed to present any evidence that Appellant did not have consent or permission from the homeowner to enter the dwelling.

At the conclusion of the evidence, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not prove that Appellant lacked consent to enter Mr. Oliver's dwelling. To the contrary, the only testimony in the record was that Appellant did have consent. R. 67, l. 16 – 68, l. 10; 70, ll. 18-21. The Trial Court denied Appellant's directed verdict motion. R. 69, l. 11 – 71, l. 20.

A person is only guilty of second degree burglary "if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein." S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-312(A). Therefore, to prove burglary, the State must offer evidence that the accused entered a dwelling without the occupant's consent. See State v. Coffin, 331 S.C. 129, 502 S.E.2d 98 (1998) (discussing first degree burglary but required element of lack of consent is the same for both first and second degree burglary); State v. Brooks, 277 S.C. 111, 283 S.E.2d 830 (1981) (stating that the State must "present evidence to support each element of the crime charged [burglary] in order to uphold the conviction); see also State v. Johnson, 348 S.C. 442, 559 S.E.2d 864 (Ct. App. 2002).

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict at trial when the State fails to present evidence on a material element of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004). The grant of a directed verdict motion for acquittal by a defendant is proper if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge. State v. Jackson, 395 S.C. 250, 254, 717 S.E.2d 609, 611 (Ct. App. 2011); see also Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316 (1979) ("[N]o person shall be made to suffer the onus of a

criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof-defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.”).

In this case, Mr. Oliver never once testified that Appellant did not have permission to enter his home. He testified that while he had not invited Appellant over that day, Appellant would have been welcomed inside had he knocked on the door. R. 29, l. 18 – 30, l. 2; 32, ll. 6-7; 36, ll. 19-20. He had never unwelcomed Appellant at his home. R. 34, ll. 3-5. Mr. Oliver agreed that he would have absolutely opened the door had Appellant knocked. R. 34, ll. 7-9. He emphasized that he had never told Appellant that he was not welcomed at his house. R. 36, ll. 1-4. Mr. Oliver even noted that Appellant still received mail at Mr. Oliver’s home. R. 33, l. 21 – 34, l. 1.

According to Mr. Oliver, the only thing that Appellant did not have permission to do that day was kick the door. R.. 32, ll. 3-11. Only the manner in which Appellant entered was done without Mr. Oliver’s permission. R. 32, ll. 8-11.

The statute requires that a person can only be guilty of second degree burglary if the person “enters a dwelling without consent.” § 16-11-312(A). The evidence at trial establishes that Appellant had consent to enter Mr. Oliver’s home, a place where Appellant even received his mail. Mr. Oliver just did not like the fact that Appellant kicked the door. But kicking a door without consent does not make a person guilty of second degree burglary. It is the entering of a dwelling without consent that is an element of second degree burglary. The State never once elicited any testimony from Mr. Oliver that Appellant did not have consent or permission to enter his home. To the contrary, Mr. Oliver affirmatively testified that he had never told Appellant that he was

not welcomed in his home. Appellant is therefore entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not present any evidence that Appellant entered a dwelling without consent.

II. Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not present any evidence that Appellant had any intent to commit a crime within the dwelling when he entered the dwelling and where the mere kicking in of a door, without more, is not sufficient to support an inference that Appellant intended to commit a crime within the dwelling.

At the conclusion of the evidence, Appellant also moved for a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not prove that Appellant had any intent to commit a crime within the dwelling. R. 67, l. 16 – 69, l. 10. Appellant pointed out that the evidence only established that a door was kicked open while Appellant was entering Mr. Oliver’s home. While that may have been malicious injury to property, Appellant argued that was merely the means by which Appellant entered the house and was not a crime attempted to be committed inside the dwelling. R. 68, ll. 1-5.

Appellant further argued to the Trial Court that the State could not rely on trespass as the crime which Appellant allegedly intended to commit inside the dwelling because the testimony from Mr. Oliver established that Appellant was welcomed in the home and that Mr. Oliver had never told Appellant that he was not welcomed in the home. R. 34, ll. 3-9; 36, ll. 1-4; 68, l. 6- 69, l. 3.

The Trial Court agreed that Appellant had some “major points” that there was no trespass, but ruled that trespass was “not the key issue that keeps the State in this case.” R. 69, ll. 14-16. The Trial Court determined that “[o]nce [Appellant] opened the outside door [the] entry was complete. Then he had broken the plain [sic] by kicking the inner door in doing the damage. Therefore, he committed a crime therein.” R. 69, ll. 19-22. The Trial Court ruled the State had enough evidence to take the case to the jury on the element of intent to commit a crime therein. R. 69, ll. 22-24.

The Trial Court, while giving a charge to the jury on the malicious injury to property as being the potential crime that Appellant intended to commit therein, declined the State's request to also give a charge about trespass. R. 89, l. 7 – 90, l. 25. The Trial Court therefore limited the possible crime that Appellant intended to commit once he entered Mr. Oliver's dwelling to malicious injury to property.

Appellant is entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of second degree burglary where the State did not prove that Appellant entered a dwelling "with intent to commit a crime therein." § 16-11-312(A). Burglary requires that at the time the offender entered the dwelling, he intended to commit a crime *once inside*. State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 398, 741 S.E.2d 521, 526 (Ct. App. 2012) (discussing first degree burglary but same element of intent to commit a crime therein is also required for second degree burglary). Where the State failed to present evidence on this material element of second degree burglary, a directed verdict for Appellant is mandated. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004).

The State's only evidence is that Appellant damaged the storm door and the inner metal door when he snatched the storm door open and kicked in the metal door. R. 31, ll. 1-22; 37, ll. 10-15; 40, ll. 1 – 15. The State did not offer any evidence, direct or circumstantial, of any crime that Appellant intended to commit once inside the residence.

All Appellant did when he entered the residence was pick up his two oldest children and leave. R. 31, ll. 11-13. The State's evidence did not include any suggestion that Appellant had no right to pick up and leave with his children from Mr. Oliver's residence or that leaving with his own children was somehow unlawful. The State offered no evidence that Appellant did not have custody of his children. The State

in fact informed the Trial Court that the State subsequently made a decision that the kidnapping charge was inappropriate and acknowledged at sentencing that the retrieval of his children was not an element of the offense of second degree burglary. R.. 104, ll. 17-18; R. 105, ll. 9-10.

In Commonwealth v. Wilamowski, 633 A.2d 141 (Pa. 1993), the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania considered a similar question to the one presented herein: whether the evidence was sufficient to support an attempted burglary conviction where the State's only evidence that the defendant intended to commit a crime therein was his mere breaking in of a door or window.

In Wilamowski, a sleeping homeowner was awakened around 11:00 p.m. by a loud noise and discovered that the door to his garage had been pushed in by a crushing blow which had caused it to split off from its frame and pulled off its three hinges. Id. at 142. The loud noise also awakened a neighbor who then heard a knock at his side door. The neighbor answered and the defendant was standing there inquiring about a different family and then asked for directions to another street. The defendant departed after the conversation with the neighbor concluded. Id.

The neighbor went to the garage where the homeowner was inspecting the damage to his garage. The two began pursuing the defendant who was still in sight, and they yelled stop to the defendant. The defendant was able to elude the neighbor and the homeowner. The police were able to later apprehend the defendant, and the defendant was charged with attempted burglary. Id.

In determining whether the evidence was sufficient to find that the defendant had the requisite intent to commit a crime inside to support a charge of attempted burglary,

the Pennsylvania Supreme Court referenced long standing case law from its jurisdiction that “evidence of intentional entry into an occupied building is by itself insufficient to support an inference of an intent to steal.” Id. at 143 (internal citations omitted). The court concluded that in the defendant’s case:

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