ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001554

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DENNIS M. PENNY, II,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Attorney General

MARY W. LEDDON
Assistant Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 616
Bennettsville, SC 29512

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

8 2015

of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Evidence was presented that Appellant did not have permission to enter the Oliver home on December 20, 2012. While he may have been invited in if he had knocked, Appellant chose to approach the home unannounced and destroy the storm door and inner door of the home, thereby forcing his way inside. The trial court correctly denied the request for directed verdict on this basis.

Appellant first contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion for directed verdict because no evidence was presented establishing that he lacked consent to enter Joey Oliver's residence. Indeed, pursuant to S.C. Code §16-11-312(A), burglary in the second degree occurs when a "person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein." The phrase "enters a building without consent" is statutorily defined as: "to enter a building without the consent of the person in lawful possession." S.C. Code §16-11-310(3)(a). Oliver was unquestionably the person in lawful possession of the home Appellant entered, and Appellant lacked Oliver's consent to enter at the moment he kicked the door in. The trial judge correctly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict on the basis of consent, and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

When presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 62, 480 S.E.2d 62, 63 (1997). The trial judge should deny a directed verdict motion and submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly or logically deduced. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 538, 426 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1992); see State v. Littlejohn, 228 S.C. 324, 329, 89 S.E.2d 924, 926 (1955) ("[O]n a motion for direction of verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not with its weight; and, although he should not refuse to grant the motion where the

evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, it is his duty to submit the case to the jury if there be any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.”).

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge’s denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge’s ruling. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge’s ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” State v. Nix, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s request for a directed verdict based on consent. Appellant essentially argues that he had unfettered access to the Oliver home when he kicked the door in, essentially claiming that he had lawful possession. Appellant contends that he only lacked consent to kick the locked door which kept him out of the premises. Alternatively, Appellant appears to assert that since he would have been given permission to enter if he had knocked, he should be deemed to have permission to enter by the alternate means of a violent, unannounced kick to the door. Either assertion fails.

Joey Oliver testified:

- Appellant was not invited to his home on December 20. (R. p. 29-30)
- Oliver did not know Appellant was coming to the home. (R. p. 29)

- Appellant's previous access to the home had been under different circumstances. (R. p. 30)
- If Appellant had knocked, Oliver would have opened the door, but Appellant did not have permission to kick the door in and enter. (R. p. 32)
- While Appellant had previously lived in a camper on Oliver's property and still received mail at the address, Appellant no longer lived there on December 20. Appellant and his family could have lived in the Oliver home "during that time [the time they lived in the camper]. They chose to live in the camper." (R. p. 33)
- Chasity, Appellant's estranged spouse, was staying at the home at the time as a temporary visitor. (R. p. 27-28) Chasity had a key to the Oliver home, but Appellant did not. Chasity would pick up mail addressed to Appellant. (R. pp. 34-35)
- Oliver was always present when Appellant assisted with work on the house. (R. p. 34)

No evidence indicates Appellant was in lawful possession of the Oliver home. He was in no way a legal resident of the home. Georgia has held that a person does not even have unlimited consent as a matter of law to enter the home of an estranged spouse. State v. Kennedy, 266 Ga. 195, 467 S.E.2d 493 (1996). Certainly unlimited consent would not extend to a home where an estranged spouse was staying as a visitor on a temporary basis. Appellant's contention that he had previously lived in a camper on the property and still received mail there likewise fails to support his claim to consent to enter the home. It would be ludicrous to suggest that, for example, that an apartment tenant who vacated after his lease expired continued to enjoy consent to enter the apartment because his mail still arrived at that address. The claim becomes even more ridiculous in light of the fact

that Appellant never exercised his putative right to freely enter Oliver's home even when he lived in the camper on the property. (R. p. 33) See State v. Coffin, 331 S.C. 129, 502 S.E.2d 98 (1998) (Motion for directed verdict properly denied based on evidence appellant was not in lawful possession of the mobile home at the time of the stabbings after Kelly had told him to leave. Though Appellant had paid rent several times, Kelly had only key, Kelly's was only name signed on lease, and appellant's license was attached to lease only as an approved visitor. This evidence supported inference that appellant was a visitor)

Oliver's testimony that if Appellant had knocked he would have opened the door indicates that Appellant did not enjoy unfettered access or lawful possession of the home. Appellant was required to knock before entering. Had he knocked, Oliver would have opened the door. However, Appellant did not give Oliver an opportunity to invite him in. Oliver's assertion that a knock was required clearly indicates Oliver did not grant Appellant unconditional consent at all times to enter.

Appellant's contention that he had never been unwelcomed likewise fails. Oliver was not required to provide formal notice to Appellant that he could not enter, particularly by kicking the door in. Oliver's closed and locked door was a sign to the world that privacy was intended.

While Applicant may have been welcomed as a guest if he had knocked, this does not amount to unlimited consent. Appellant did not have Oliver's consent to enter by kicking the door in. He did not have consent to enter at the moment he kicked the door in because he had not knocked and requested entry. Just as a person drawing a weapon to force a monetary "loan" which may have been obtained from a friendly request would still be armed robbery, a person cannot choose to violently and forcibly enter a home he

may have been granted access to upon verbal request. Evidence abounds that Appellant did not gain the consent he needed to enter the home on December 20. For all these reasons, evidence supports the trial court's denial of a directed verdict.

II.

The trial court correctly denied Appellant's request for directed verdict on the basis that the State had not presented evidence of intent to commit a crime inside the premises. Evidence that Appellant broke an outer storm door, kicked in an inner door, and stormed inside the premises supports an inference of intent.

The standard of review for this question is the same as that detailed in Issue I. In ruling on Appellant's directed verdict motion, the Court noted:

... - - you don't have to have a breaking anymore. Of course, it's not like the old house breaking. So it's entry. Once he opened the outside door the entry was complete. Then he had broken the [plane] by kicking the inner door in doing the damage."

(R. p. 69) At trial, the State submitted that Appellant a crime in addition to the act of trespass and damage to the door, the manner of entry endangered the children. (R. p. 71; p. 77) The forceful kicking in of the door certainly could have caused injury or fear of injury to any occupant of the home.

In the present case, the crossing of the threshold involved the destruction of Oliver's storm door and door. Appellant "snatched the storm door," which opened outward then kicked the metal door inward, heedless of any potential harm to Oliver's property or the occupants inside. Appellant's entry was complete upon snatching the storm door. The smallest entry of the space of the dwelling is sufficient to satisfy the requirement.¹ Having made entry by removing the outer screen door, Appellant intended

¹ "A breaking, essential to constitute the crime of burglary, may be any act of physical force, *however slight*, whereby any obstruction to entering is forcibly removed." State v. Clamp, 225 S.C. 89, 99, 80

and did carry out a crime therein when he kicked in the inner door, breaking the door jamb, and stormed inside, trespassing upon the property. In addition to the actual crime of kicking in the door, thereby trespassing and destroying personal property, Appellant's manner of entry lends itself to an inference that he intended to commit a crime inside the home. The violent entry was certainly ample to put those inside in fear. While there was no charge that he carried out any act of violence or harm inside the home other than the breaking of the inner door, his action of kicking the door in surely lends itself to an inference of violent intent at the moment entry was made. See 12A CJS Burglary §96 (December 2014) (Some courts permit the factfinder to infer the requisite intent from the fact or manner of the defendant's unlawful entry). Even failure to convict of a crime inside the premises will not negate a burglary conviction. See State v. Peterson, 336 S.C. 6, 518 S.E.2d 277 (1999) (fact that defendant was not convicted of sexual assault was immaterial to validity of burglary conviction).

McMillian v. State, 383 S.C. 480, 680 S.E.2d 905 (2009), is instructive in this matter. McMillian sought post-conviction relief, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in that counsel had allowed him to plead guilty where the facts did not support a charge of Burglary First Degree because he lacked the requisite "intent to commit a crime therein." In April 2004, McMillian knocked at the door of the home of Lanelle Hicks and her adult son, Mark. McMillian's knocking turned to beating on the door, and McMillian eventually "crashed the door open, damaging the door." Id. at 482, 680 S.E.2d 906. McMillian entered the home, but Mark immediately escorted him outside and held him until police arrived. McMillian claimed that he had approached the home in a grossly

S.E.2d 918, 922 (1954). [Emphasis supplied.] While decided under law requiring "breaking and entering," description of entry "however slight" is appropriate under current burglary statutes.

intoxicated state seeking help. Counsel believed McMillian's trespass upon the property was adequate to submit the question of intent to the jury. Similarly, in the present case, evidence that Appellant broke the inner door after making entry through the storm door and stormed into the living area of the home support an inference that he intended to commit a crime inside the home.² As with McMillian, Appellant was free to argue that he lacked the requisite intent; nonetheless, the evidence was sufficient to submit the case to the jury. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's request for a directed verdict on this basis.

III.

The issue of whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence of flight was not preserved for review where Appellant failed to follow his pre-trial motion *in limine* with a contemporaneous objection to any testimony regarding flight. Even if the issue were preserved, the evidence was properly admitted.

Appellant moved pre-trial to suppress any evidence related to flight, arguing a lack of nexus between the flight and the charged crime. (R. pp. 5-11) Appellant's motion was a motion *in limine* seeking to prevent admission of evidence regarding the issuance of an Amber Alert and the Appellant's flight from police officers. A ruling on a motion *in limine* is not final, however, and is subject to change. State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 369 S.E.2d 842 (1988). Therefore, a contemporaneous objection is required when the matter is presented to the jury. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993); State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). However, no

² The Pennsylvania case cited by Appellant varies from the circumstances of this case in a crucial way. In Commonwealth v. Wilamowski, 534 Pa. 373, 380, 633 A.2d 141 (1993), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court declined to accept a per se assumption that a forced entry alone "automatically gives rise to an acceptable inference of intent to commit a crime inside." However, Wilamowski broke a door "without any showing that he entered the structure or attempted to enter. His path into the structure was now unobstructed, but he chose to walk away and go to the neighbor's house to ask for directions." *Id.* Wilamowski made no further foray into the premises, where Appellant, not content to have destroyed his father-in-law's door, continued inside the home.

objection was made when officers testified regarding Appellant's flight. (R. pp. 49-55; pp. 57-61; pp. 63-65) Therefore, this issue is not preserved for review.

Even if Appellant had preserved the issue for review, it would be without merit. Flight evidence may be admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt. State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 742 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App. 2013). "Flight evidence is relevant where there is a nexus between the flight and the offense charged." State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 220, 708 S.E.2d 227, 231 (Ct. App. 2011) (cert. granted October 17, 2012). "The critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities." State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (citing State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 315, 513 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1999)) There must be an inference that "the defendant's actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his *wrongdoing* and were seeking him for that purpose." Id. [Emphasis supplied.] For there to be a nexus, evidence must link the flight to the charged crime. As stated in U.S. v. Obi, 239 F.3d 663, 665 (4th Cir. 2001):

To establish this causal chain, there must be evidence that the defendant fled or attempted to flee and that supports inferences that (1) the defendant's flight was the product of consciousness of guilt, and (2) his consciousness of guilt was in relation to the crime with which he was *ultimately charged* and on which the evidence is offered.

[Emphasis added.]

Appellant argues he "may have had knowledge that law enforcement was seeking him pursuant to the Amber Alert and that law enforcement was in the process of trying to recover his children," but he would not have known he was being sought for Second Degree Burglary as he was not charged with that offense until two weeks later. The

knowledge of guilt required for the admission of flight evidence does not require that the defendant decipher which particular offenses he may be charged with as a result of a given course of conduct. A fleeing defendant does not have to conduct an accurate legal analysis of which crimes he may be charged with in order to have consciousness of wrongful conduct. He need not parse out the legal particularities of, for example, the varying degrees of burglary, in order to know that he has committed a criminal act. In the example of burglary, it matters not whether a fleeing defendant believes he has committed first or second degree burglary; it matters only that he is aware that his conduct on a given occasion may be the cause of the authorities' pursuit.

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